Page 15 - Mr. Steve Hanson


10052075.res

June 30, 2006

Gary D. Jackson

Mr. Steve Hanson

President

Spokane Community College

2000 N. Green Street

Spokane, Washington  99217-5399

Re:
Spokane Community College

OCR Reference No. 10052075

Dear President Hanson:

The Office for Civil Rights (OCR) has completed its investigation of the referenced complaint against Spokane Community College.  The complaint alleged that the college discriminated against a student on the basis of disability in violation of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Specifically, the complaint alleged that the college discriminated by:

1. denying the student auxiliary aids and services during classes and clinicals while enrolled in the respiratory care practitioner program; and

2. terminating the student from the respiratory care practitioner program on April 8, 2005.

OCR has completed its investigation of the complaint under the authority of Section 504 and Title II, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability in programs and activities receiving financial assistance from the U.S. Department of Education and by public entities, respectively.  The college is a recipient of federal funding from the Department and is a public entity.

The issues investigated were:

1. Whether the college discriminated against the student based on disability by denying him academic adjustments, auxiliary aids, or program modifications needed for the student to have equal access to the college’s respiratory care practitioner program.

2. Whether the college discriminated against the student based on disability when it dismissed him from the Respiratory Care Practitioner program.

We have determined that the evidence supports a conclusion that the student was denied consideration for accommodations for his disabilities during a clinical rotation, in violation of Section 504 and Title II.  We have determined, further, that the college’s Respiratory Care Practitioner program maintains a policy against disability accommodations in clinical settings and that this policy does not comply with Section 504 or Title II.  Finally, we have concluded that a dismissal policy of the Respiratory Care Practitioner program does not comply with these laws.  The college agreed to take actions to resolve our compliance concerns by implementing the enclosed Settlement Agreement.

Our findings and conclusions are set forth below and are based on documents provided by the complainant and the college and on interviews with the student, other students, and college and Deaconess Medical Center staff.

Findings of Fact - Issue No. 1

1. In August 2003, the student was admitted to the college’s Respiratory Care Practitioner program, also referred to as the Respiratory Therapy (RT) program.  At the time of his enrollment he was 55 years old.  He remained in the program until April 8, 2005.

2. The RT program has two full-time instructors, one of whom is the program director and the other being the director for clinical education.
3. Prior to being admitted to the program, the student completed relevant prerequisite courses.  He also had a required preadmission faculty screening interview screening with the program’s director for clinical education.

4. The RT program normally takes 2 years, with classroom instruction and clinical rotations at medical centers, hospitals, pulmonary physician offices, home care agencies, and rehabilitation or long term-care facilities during the last 5 quarters of the program.

5. Respiratory care practitioners work under the direction of a physician, or clinical site preceptor, and assist in the diagnoses, treatment, and management of patients of all ages with pulmonary disorders.  In emergency care and critical care settings, practitioners provide basic and advanced life support for critically ill patients.  They must be skilled in ventilator and airway management, arterial blood gas sampling and analysis, hemodynamic monitoring, and assisting with special procedures such has bronchoscopy.

6. Prior to the student’s enrollment in the RT program, the Washington State Division of Vocational Rehabilitation (DVR) contracted for an educational-psychological assessment of the student to be performed by Psychological Services Spokane.  The report of the assessment was completed on September 8, 2003, shortly after the student began the RT program.

7. The student was diagnosed as having a learning disorder (not otherwise specified), anxiety disorder (NOS), and depression.  He also has a hearing impairment.  The evaluation noted that the student clearly possesses the cognitive skills to participate in university-level instruction but recommended that, because of his extremely slow reading speed and spelling difficulties, the student receive extra test-taking time on exams and taped texts.  The report also recommended that vocational goals other than medical careers with significant amounts of interaction with others in stressful and difficult situations be explored.  The report was provided to the college’s Center for Students with Disabilities (CSD).

8. On June 14, 2004, a U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) counseling psychologist reported that the vocational rehabilitation objective of respiratory therapist had been found suitable for training purposes.  The basis for this determination is not apparent from the report.
9. The CSD completed a disability services intake for the student on December 5, 2002.  The student requested extended test time, counseling, and a tape recorder and indicated he was hard of hearing, had a learning disability, and taking medication for depression.  The CSD approved the student for extended testing time of one and one half time to ensure comprehension of instructions and requirements, and proctoring of testing in a distraction free room which was available through the CSD upon request.  The student did not request and the CSD did not prescribe any accommodations for future clinical assignments.

10. On April 7 and 8, 2006, the student was placed in a clinical assignment in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) at Deaconess Medical Center.  During the course of his assignment on April 8, the RT program director, who was present in his role as preceptor, instructed the student to leave the assignment.

11. The student was terminated from the RT program on April 8, 2005, while participating in a required clinical assignment at Deaconess Medical Center.

12. The student successfully completed 6 of 7 quarters in the RT program.  He had been on the vice president’s honor role 5 times, consistently received passing grades, and from fall quarter 2003 when he began the RT program had a 3.3 GPA.

13. In his clinical classes, the student received grades of 2.5 in Respiratory Care Clinical I (RT 134) (spring 2004), 3.9 in Respiratory Care Clinical II (RT 143) (summer 2004), a 3.6 in Respiratory Care Clinical III (RT 212) (fall 2004), a 4.0 in his fall 2004 Pulmonary Diagnostics Clinical I (RT 214), a 3.4 in his winter 2005 Respiratory Care Clinical IV (RT 222), and a 3.6 in his winter 2005 Advanced Pulmonary Diagnostics Clinical II (RT 224).  The student received no grade in Respiratory Care Clinical V, RT 234, the course from which he was dismissed on April 8, 2005.  The student’s assigned instructors for these classes were the RT program director or the program’s clinical education director, or both.

14. A DVR counselor assigned to work with the student reported to OCR that she participated in a meeting with college personnel on April 13, 2005, during which a counselor stated, “We do not provide accommodations during clinicals.”

15. A long-time counselor at the college stated that there is a long-standing practice, if not a formal policy, of not considering or prescribing accommodations for students with disabilities in clinical settings.

16. The two RT directors/instructors stated that accommodation of students’ disabilities in clinical settings is not appropriate because the Committee on Accreditation for Respiratory Care Program (COARC) requires students’ clinical experiences must be parallel, use the same care plans, logs, and packet of information and receive similar training.  The director of clinical education made a distinction between what she called “general accommodations,” which based on her description are academic support measures that can be considered and made available to all students, and “special accommodations,” which are individualized disability-related auxiliary aids, academic adjustments, and program modifications.  The director stated to OCR that, “There are no special accommodations made for clinical.”

17. The director of the RT program stated to OCR that the student had been informed early in the program that clinical performance standards would be the same for him as for any other RT program student.  The director stated that the student was informed that, “in the clinical arena just as in the employment area he would be expected to hold a job as a respiratory care practitioner without accommodations.”
18. According to the college, between 2000-2001 and 2004-2005, eight RT program students have received accommodations in the classroom because of disabilities.  According to the college, none of these students received accommodations in clinical settings.

19. The student did not request accommodations for his clinical rotations.  He stated that he did not know what to ask for so he did not request anything.

20. On two occasions, RT program faculty helped students with hearing impairments to receive amplified stethoscopes from an outside agency to use in clinical settings.

21. Deaconess Medical Center staff in the area to which the student was assigned for his clinical in April 2005 stated to OCR that they were not aware that the student had disabilities and did not make any effort to accommodate the disabilities.

22. On September 20, 2004, the college disabilities specialist signed a Contract for Student Academic Adjustment for the student.  The form indicated that it applied to RT 210, RT 211, RT 212, RT 213, RT 214, and RT 215.  The only academic adjustment identified in the contract is “Extended time 1.5.”  The disabilities specialist also notified the two instructors that the student was enrolled in certain of the instructors classes, that the student has a documented disability, and that he “required the following accommodations:  Extended testing time of one-half time (sic) to ensure comprehension of instructions and requirements.”  Two of the identified classes, RT 212 and RT 214, are clinical classes.  Accommodations in the form of extended time for tests and test-taking in a distraction free environment were also approved for the winter and spring 2005 quarters.

23. The current disabilities specialist told OCR that if she were to receive a request for an accommodation in a clinical program, she would ask the dean of student services and her predecessor, who continues to work at the college, for advice.  She stated that she has not had any such requests.

24. Neither the student nor any of the other witnesses contended that the student had specifically requested accommodations for clinicals or that he was considered or approved for accommodations in those settings by the college disabilities specialist.

25. According to the dean of instruction for Health and Environmental Sciences, nearly all of the college’s 20 health science programs include a clinical component in their curriculum.  

Analysis and Conclusions - Issue No. 1

The regulations adopted to implement Section 504 provide, at 34 CFR 104.44(a), that with respect to postsecondary education, institutions subject to the law shall make such modifications to its academic requirements as are necessary to ensure that such requirements do not discriminate or have the effect of discriminating, on the basis of disability, against a qualified disabled applicant or student.  A college may demonstrate that certain of its academic requirements are essential to the instruction being pursued by such student or to any directly related licensing requirement and to that extent, the requirements will not be regarded as discriminatory within the meaning of the regulation.  34 CFR 104.44(b) prohibits colleges from imposing rules on disabled students, “that have the effect of limiting the participation of handicapped students in the recipient's education program or activity.”   

Section 104.4(b)(4) of the same regulation provides, in part, that a recipient of federal financial assistance may not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize criteria or methods of administration that have the effect of subjecting qualified disabled persons to discrimination on the basis of disability, or that have the purpose or effect of defeating or substantially impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the recipient's program or activity with respect to disabled persons.  The regulations adopted to implement Title II contain substantially the same requirements.  Further, a covered institution “that considers participation by students in education programs or activities not operated wholly by the recipient as part of … [the] education program or activity operated by the recipient shall assure itself that the other education program or activity, as a whole, provides an equal opportunity for the participation of qualified disabled persons.”  See 34 CFR 104.43(b).   

The evidence does not support a finding that the student was denied academic adjustments, auxiliary aids, or program modifications in his didactic classes.  OCR found no evidence that the college failed to permit him extended time on tests or the opportunity to take tests and examinations in a proctored setting outside of the classroom, the academic adjustments that were specifically identified by the college’s CSD.  There is evidence, in addition, that RT program staff and others provided the student with other academic support and assistance in the nature of academic adjustments outside of the formal accommodation process administered by the CSD. 

The student acknowledged that he did not request any accommodations for his clinical rotations, including his assignment to the Deaconess NICU, and had not known what accommodations might have been useful and appropriate to him.  The VA was asked to and did pay for an amplified stethoscope for the student.  With that limited exception, however, OCR found no evidence that either of the college’s disabled student counselors, the student’s DVR counselor, his VA counselor, or the psychologists who considered the student’s prospective participation in the RT program identified modifications or adjustments that the student required during his clinical rotations.  Knowing that he was a student with a disability, however, the college and its employees failed to consider whether his performance in a clinical setting would be affected by his disabilities or whether there were accommodations available that would have allowed the student to complete the clinical rotation and the program safely.  As a result, the evidence supports a conclusion that the college failed to comply with Section 504 and Title II by denying the student an opportunity for accommodations during his clinical rotations. 

Further, a preponderance of the evidence, from a wide variety of sources, establishes that as a matter of practice and of unwritten policy, the college’s RT program does not consider, approve, recommend, or provide individualized academic adjustments, auxiliary aids, program modifications, or reasonable accommodations for its students with disabilities in clinical settings, and that it does not seek or require such adjustments, aids, modifications, or accommodations to be provided by the entity to which students are assigned for clinical rotations.  

Part of the justification offered by the RT program for not considering accommodations during clinicals was that in the employment area students would be expected to hold a job as a respiratory care practitioner without accommodations.  This justification is not consistent with requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act related to the accommodation of employees’ disabilities, or similar requirements under Section 504 for recipients of federal financial assistance, a class of institutions that includes virtually all hospitals and many other institutional settings in which a graduate of the program is likely to do a clinical rotation or might find employment after graduation.  

The college presented evidence that it supported the student in question and one other student in obtaining amplified stethoscopes from non-college sources for use in clinical settings.  The evidence also establishes that this is an anomaly, and is not sufficient to outweigh the evidence from college employees and others, including in particular the two administrators of the RT program, that the policy and practice is not to provide accommodations for students during clinical rotations.

Decisions about accommodations for students with disabilities must be individualized and particular to each student’s disability, to the setting in question, and to the tasks involved.  Furthermore, a college must engage in an “interactive process” to determine whether an accommodation is available that would allow an otherwise qualified student with a disability to participate successfully in the program.  A blanket policy against accommodation during clinical rotations is fundamentally and fatally at odds with these requirements.  As a result, OCR concludes that the college is not in compliance with Section 504 or Title II with respect to the accommodation of RT program students in clinical settings.

Findings of Fact - Issue No. 2

1. The student received an orientation prior to his clinical experience at Deaconess Medical Center at the end of March 2005.  The orientation included charting, expected conduct, behavior, required paperwork, and a site visit.

2. The student had completed 6 of 7 quarters of the respiratory care practitioner program, had attained respectable grades, and had previously done a clinical at Sacred Heart Hospital.
3. On April 7 and 8, 2005, the student was assigned to the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) at Deaconess.  On April 8, the student’s college instructor and preceptor told him that the manager for respiratory therapy at Deaconess had asked the instructor to remove the student from the clinical site immediately.
4. The student was asked to return to campus and meet, the same day, at the office of the former Disability Services counselor.  The student met as directed with the counselor and with the college’s two RT program directors.
5. Professional staff of the NICU wrote to the directors of the college’s RT program on April 8, 2005.  They described a number of specific observations of the student’s performance at Deaconess on April 7 and 8, based upon which they concluded their strong belief that the student “is a liability risk to the patient, our employees and Deaconess Medical Center.”
6. The college’s RT program director wrote an “Anecdotal Record/ Observation” and a “Student Area Performance Evaluation,” both dated April 8, 2005, to document the student’s clinical performance over 2 days at Deaconess.  The Anecdotal Record/Observation stated, in part, that the student had failed to demonstrate the minimal competencies required to function in this clinical setting.  The evaluation stated, in part, “[the student] has failed to demonstrate minimal competency in his clinical rotation.”  In addition, the student “has performed tasks with patients that were hazardous and potentially harmful to patient safety. …  He can not (sic) make safe sound judgement (sic) calls at the pace required in clinical.” 
7. Students admitted to the RT program are required to acknowledge and sign a statement of program policies that includes the following:  “If for any reason you are requested never to return to a specific clinical site (including reasons listed above), you will be unable to complete clinical that term and therefore will earn a failing grade.  This will result in program dismissal.”  The statement does not specify that a student has a right to due process before being dismissed from the program.
8. The RT program director stated that upon his arrival at Deaconess on April 8, he met almost immediately with the hospital’s respiratory therapy manager, who told him that he wanted the student removed from the site immediately due to competency, safety, and liability reasons.
9. The Deaconess respiratory therapy manager told OCR that he would not have allowed the student in the NICU if he had known the student had a disability, and had the college asked him beforehand to accept a clinical student with a disability, he would not have allowed the student or any disabled student on his site.
10. The student confirmed to OCR that, on April 8, 2005, the program director observed him for a period of time and then told the student that the hospital had asked that he be removed from the hospital and not return.  When the student asked why, the director told him that that it was because he was a danger to patients and did not have the skills of second year student.
11. The NICU respiratory therapist stated that on April 7, 2005, the first day of the student’s clinical at Deaconess, the student told her that he had met all the objectives to complete the program except one.  As a result, she expected that he would be familiar with the NICU setting and procedures.  The therapist said that on April 8, 2005, she saw the student try to move a ventilator that was hooked up to an infant, ignore her warning that he should not move the ventilator, and try to move it a second time.  She stated that the student did not appear to appreciate the potentially deadly results of his actions.  More generally, she believed that the student’s level of knowledge and awareness of the clinical environment were considerably below what is expected of a student nearing completion of the program and assigned to a NICU.  As a result, the therapist did not let the student carry out any respiratory therapy procedures.  The therapist, her manager, and the NICU respiratory therapy coordinator reported their concerns, in a memorandum to the program director dated the same day, that the student was not qualified and presented a liability risk to patients, to the hospital, and to other staff.
12. At the request of the student’s DVR counselor, the student, the DVR counselor, the student’s VA counselor, the program and clinical education directors from the RT program, and two college counselors met on April 13, 2005.  In addition, the dean of Instruction for Health and Environmental Sciences was present for part of the meeting.  The student’s DVR and VA counselors stated they did not understand why the student was terminated because he was doing well academically and neither he nor they had received any information that he might be terminated from the program.  They also stated that they did not believe a substantial reason for his termination had been articulated.
13. The position of the RT program directors during the meeting was that the student’s performance during his 2 days of clinical at Deaconess demonstrated that he did not have the skills, knowledge, or temperament to complete the clinical setting and that the request of clinical staff that he not return was conclusive with respect to his continuation in the program.
14. The student stated that he needs to be shown how to do things a couple of times, to have a little time to work it through, and to practice with it a couple of times.  This was a new hospital setting at Deaconess and everything was different from at Sacred Heart Hospital NICU a few weeks earlier, where he was able to learn the procedures through repetition and was familiar with that unit’s ventilator.
15. The student was not informed of a right to a hearing before being excluded from the RT program, nor was he notified of a right to a grievance procedure under Section 504 and Title II.  According to the DVR and VA counselors and the student, the college staff who were present refused to disclose to the student copies of some evaluations of the student’s past performance.  The meeting did not result in the student’s reinstatement, as requested by the DVR and VA counselors on the student’s behalf. 
16. The two RT instructors, the student’s former DSS counselor, and a classmate described to OCR incidents at a clinical site during which the student became emotional over what he was seeing involving patients, made inappropriate and unprofessional comments, and would sometimes “shut down” and not be able to communicate to his preceptor or others important information regarding patient care or his own activities in the clinical setting.
17. All RT students are notified in writing, prior to the beginning of a clinical rotation, of student policies during the clinical assignment.  The document, which the student signed and noted that he understood, included nine “Criteria for Alert/Probation/Dismissal Consideration.”  The clinical education director identified to OCR three of the criteria with which the student had failed to comply, and at least one other about which she stated she had concerns.  The determinative issue, however, was that the student had been asked by medical staff of the clinical setting to leave the facility, an event that under the written procedure automatically resulted in program dismissal. 
Analysis and Conclusions - Issue No. 2

The Section 504 regulation provides, in pertinent part:  “No qualified handicapped student shall, on the basis of handicap, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any academic, research, occupational training, … or other postsecondary education aid, benefits, or services… . ”  See 34 CFR 104.43(a).  A college subject to Section 504 “may not, on the basis of handicap, exclude any qualified handicapped student from any course, course of study, or other part of its education program or activity.”  See 34 CFR 104.43(c).  Additionally, a covered institution “that considers participation by students in education programs or activities not operated wholly by the recipient as part of … [the] education program or activity operated by the recipient shall assure itself that the other education program or activity, as a whole, provides an equal opportunity for the participation of qualified handicapped persons.  See 34 CFR 104.43(b).   34 CFR 104.44(b) prohibits colleges from imposing rules on disabled students “that have the effect of limiting the participation of handicapped students in the recipient's education program or activity.”   Clinical education and experience is part of the college’s education program for students enrolled in the RT program.  The fact that clinical education takes place, in part, in facilities operated by other entities and under the eye of employees of entities other than the college does not obviate the college’s responsibility to ensure that its students with disabilities are not subjected to discrimination in the college’s education programs.

A college or other covered entity is not required by Title II to permit an individual to participate in its program if that individual poses a direct threat to the health or safety of himself or others.  A "direct threat" is a significant risk to the health or safety of others that cannot be eliminated by a modification of policies, practices, or procedures, or by the provision of auxiliary aids or services.  The determination that a person poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others must be based on an individualized assessment, based on reasonable judgment that relies on current medical evidence or on the best available objective evidence.

In this case, the student conducted himself in a manner that caused medical staff in the Deaconess NICU during the first 2 days of his assignment to be seriously concerned about his knowledge, skills, and clinical awareness, and to believe that through his actions the student endangered a patient.  As a result, they asked that he be removed from the Deaconess placement.  The student acknowledged that he was confused and stated that with repetition, he would have grasped the NICU procedures.  The evidence is not sufficient for OCR to conclude that the student was removed from the Deaconess placement because of his disability rather than because of legitimate medical concerns related to immediate and significant risk to patient safety.     

OCR also considered whether the automatic dismissal of the student from the RT program was consistent with Section 504 or Title II.  The student was dismissed under a policy implemented by the college’s RT program providing that a student who is asked not to return to a clinical site, for any reason, will earn a failing grade and be dismissed from the RT program.  With respect to students with disabilities, staff at the clinical setting in this case stated to OCR that they would not have accepted the student in question had they known of his disability and would generally not accept for clinical training students who they know are disabled.  (OCR has no reason to believe that this is Deaconess Medical Center policy.)  The determination that a person poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others may not be based on generalizations or stereotypes about the effects of a particular disability.  The RT program policy effectively delegates to staff at the clinical setting, who are not employees of the college or under the college’s control, the authority to determine for any reason or for no reason whether the college’s students are dismissed from its educational program.  The RT program policy does not provide for an individualized assessment of the reasons for the request that students not return to a clinical setting, and does not give students faced with dismissal from the college’s program an opportunity to demonstrate that the reasons were based on unlawful disability discrimination, such as a denial of legally required accommodations.  OCR concludes, therefore, that the RT program policy does not comply with Section 504 or Title II.

As noted above, the college has agreed to take voluntary corrective actions as set forth in the enclosed Settlement Agreement.  We have concluded that, upon full implementation of the actions and commitments contained in the agreement, the college will be in compliance with Section 504 and Title II with respect to the compliance concerns identified in this complaint.  Based on the college's commitment to implement the actions specified in the agreement, we are closing the above-referenced case as of the date of this letter, with OCR monitoring to continue under the terms of the agreement.

This determination of compliance with Section 504 and Title II is contingent upon the college’s full implementation of the commitments set forth in the agreement.  The college’s failure to honor these commitments may result in further action by OCR with respect to this case.

The findings and conclusions presented in this letter apply only to the specific facts and issues of this case.  Pursuant to section 203 of Title II, the complainant may file a private suit irrespective of OCR’s decision in this matter.

We appreciate the cooperation extended by you and your staff to achieve resolution of this case.  If you should have any questions about this letter, please contact Nicholas Rock, investigator, at (206) 220-7905 or Tim Spofford, attorney, at (206) 220-7932.

Sincerely,

Gary D. Jackson

Director, Seattle Office

Western Division

Enclosure:  Settlement Agreement

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Office for Civil Rights No. 10052075

I.
INTRODUCTION

To resolve the compliance concerns identified by the Office for Civil Rights (OCR), U.S. Department of Education, in its investigation of the Spokane Community College (the college) in OCR Case No. 10052075, the parties enter into this Settlement Agreement.

II.
GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. The parties are the college and OCR.

B. This Agreement shall become effective when both parties have signed the Agreement.

C. It is understood that this Agreement does not constitute an admission by the college of any violation of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

D. The parties agree that this Agreement resolves only the compliance concerns identified by OCR in the investigation of this case.

E. In consideration of the college’s implementation of, and adherence to, the provisions of this Agreement, OCR agrees not to initiate enforcement proceedings with respect to the compliance concerns identified in the investigation of the complaint.  It is agreed, however, that in the event the college fails to adhere to any provision of this Agreement, OCR will take appropriate measures to effect compliance.

III.
SUBSTANTIVE PROVISIONS

A.
By December 15, 2006, the college will review and, as necessary, revise its procedures to ensure that:

1.
the college does not maintain, implement or adhere to a written or unwritten policy or practice that limits the provision of reasonable accommodations to students with disabilities in clinical settings that they are entitled to under Section 504 and Title II; and

2.
whenever a student with a disability is asked not to return to the site of a clinical rotation, the college will provide the student with an opportunity to request and receive an individualized determination of whether the request was the result of disability discrimination, including a denial of reasonable accommodation.  Further, the student will be afforded the opportunity to pursue a grievance under the college’s Disability Grievance Policy.  

B.
By December 15, 2006, and continuing each quarter thereafter, the college will publish and disseminate, in writing:

1.
to all students and faculty in any college program that includes a clinical component, and to applicants for admission to such programs, notice that the college does not discriminate on the basis of disability in admission to its programs or in participation in such programs, including in any required clinical component whether operated by the college or by another entity.

2.
to all institutions, entities and organizations in which students of the college are authorized to perform a required clinical rotation for credit, that:

a.
the college adheres to and complies with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990;

b.
the college supports the right of students to be free from discrimination based on disability and to reasonable accommodation during clinical rotation;

c.
the college will participate in an interactive process with any clinical setting and students with disabilities to reach an individualized determination regarding reasonable accommodations that may be appropriate and necessary and the provision of such accommodations; and

d.
the college does not approve or support clinical participation by its students at entities that have a policy or practice of discriminating based on disability against clinical students who are otherwise qualified for the college program in which they are enrolled. 

C.
The parties agree that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the college or any clinical setting in which students of the college participate to refrain from taking action deemed necessary for the health and safety of patients or others in a clinical setting, provided that the college, the student and the clinical setting have first engaged in the interactive process required by section III.B.2.a, above, or in the event of a health and safety related emergency, such process is promptly undertaken in conjunction with consideration of the students’ continued participation in the program and the clinical setting.

D.
By July 1, 2006, the college will, at the request of the student who is the subject of this complaint, reimburse the student for any student loans extended to the student for his education during the Spring 2005, quarter and for which the student remains obligated.  Any payment made under this provision may be made to the student or directly to the lender on the student’s account, at the option of the college.

IV.
REPORTING PROVISIONS

By January 1, 2007, the college will report to OCR the actions taken with respect to Section III, above.  The report will include a copy of all documents revised pursuant to III.A and any other documents created or relied upon to implement the requirements of the section.  With respect to III.B, the college will provide to OCR copies of the notices required to be made under each section and a description of the manner of dissemination.  Regarding III.C, relating to the student in question, the college will include in its report a statement of whether the student requested reimbursement and, if so, evidence that the student was reimbursed.  

Signed:

_______________________________
___________

Steve Hanson

President
Date

Spokane Community College

_______________________________
___________

Gary D. Jackson
Date

Director, Seattle Office

Western Division

